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DECISION


Turner L. Lacey is subject to discipline for pleading guilty to wire fraud and for intentionally concealing needed repair information and prior sales history when rendering an inflated real estate appraisal.
Procedure


On July 31, 2006, the Missouri Real Estate Appraisers Commission (“the MREAC”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Lacey.  On September 6, 2006, Lacey, through an attorney, filed an answer in which he admitted to all of the allegations in the complaint.  On October 23, 2006, the MREAC filed a motion for summary determination.
  Pursuant to § 536.073.3,
 our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the 
MREAC establishes facts that (a) Lacey does not dispute and (b) entitle the MREAC to a favorable decision. 


We gave Lacey until November 13, 2006, to respond to the motion, but he did not.  Therefore, the following facts are undisputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Lacey is licensed as a state-certified general real estate appraiser.  His certification is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.
2. On or about October 4, 2000, Lacey intentionally concealed needed repair information and prior sales history when rendering an inflated real estate appraisal for 6 South Clark Street, Ferguson, Missouri.
3. On or about July 12, 2005, Lacey pled guilty to one count of Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.
4. The count reads:
The United States Attorney charges that:
Between 1999 and 2001, within the Eastern District of

Missouri,
Turner Lacey,
the Defendant herein, did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with others known and unknown to the United States Attorney, to commit the crime of wire fraud, that is to devise a scheme or artifice to defraud or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises and in furtherance of said scheme caused signs, writings, signals, pictures or sounds to be transmitted in interstate commerce by means of wire, radio, or television communications, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.
5. The count charged the conduct described in Finding of Fact 2.
6. On October 6, 2005, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, Eastern Division, issued a final judgment finding Lacey guilty of Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and 18 U.S.C. § 371.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The MREAC has the burden of proving that Lacey has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The MREAC argues that there is cause for discipline under § 339.532:

2.  The [MREAC] may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any state-certified real estate appraiser, state-licensed real estate appraiser, or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *


(4) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in any criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549 for any offense of which an essential element is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, dishonesty, fraud, or misrepresentation in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 339.500 to 339.549;

(6) Violation of any of the standards for the development or communication of real estate appraisals as provided in or pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549;

(7) Failure to comply with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice promulgated by the appraisal standards board of the appraisal foundation;

*   *   *


(10) Violating, assisting or enabling any person to willfully disregard any of the provisions of sections 339.500 to 339.549 or the regulations of the [MREAC] for the administration and enforcement of the provisions of sections 339.500 to 339.549;

*   *   *


(14) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

Subdivision (4)

The MREAC argues that conspiracy to commit wire fraud is an offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a real estate appraiser, an offense of which essential elements are fraud and dishonesty, and an offense involving moral turpitude.


Good moral character is a qualification for licensure.
  An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.
  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
 


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”
The crime of fraud by wire, radio, or television is set forth at 18 U.S.C. § 1343:
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.
The crime of conspiracy is set forth at 18 U.S.C. § 371:

If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.
If, however, the offense, the commission of which is the object of the conspiracy, is a misdemeanor only, the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed the maximum punishment for such misdemeanor.


We agree that the crime of conspiracy to commit wire fraud is an offense that is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a real estate appraiser, an offense essential elements of which are fraud and dishonesty, and an offense involving moral turpitude.  There is cause to discipline Lacey under § 339.532.2(4).

Subdivision (5)


The MREAC argues that Lacey is subject to discipline for incompetency, misconduct, dishonesty, fraud, and misrepresentation.

We use the definitions of dishonesty and fraud as set forth above.  Incompetence is a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.
  Competence refers to “the 
actual ability of a person to perform in [the] occupation.”
  Misconduct is the intentional commission of a wrongful act.
  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.


By pleading guilty to the crime of conspiracy to commit wire fraud, Lacey admitted that he intentionally concealed needed information when he created an inflated real estate appraisal for 6 South Clark Street, Ferguson, Missouri.
  Lacey demonstrated incompetency, misconduct, dishonesty, fraud, and misrepresentation in the performance of the functions and duties of a certified real estate appraiser.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.532.2(5).
Subdivision (6)


The MREAC argues that Lacey is subject to discipline for violating professional standards.  Because subdivision (7) mentions only USPAP Ethics Rules, subdivision (7) is useless if subdivision (6) includes USPAP.  Therefore, the “standards” under subdivision (6) must mean something other than USPAP.  Because the MREAC’s complaint cites only USPAP standards, Lacey is not subject to discipline under 339.532.2(6).

Subdivisions (7) and (10)

The MREAC argues that Lacey is subject to discipline for violating the USPAP and a statute.


Section 339.535 states:
State certified real estate appraisers and state licensed real estate appraisers shall comply with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice promulgated by the appraisal standards board of the appraisal foundation.

The USPAP Ethics Rule regarding conduct provides: 
An appraiser must perform assignments ethically and competently, in accordance with USPAP and any supplemental standards agreed to by the appraiser in accepting the assignment.  An appraiser must not engage in criminal conduct.

Lacey intentionally concealed needed information when he created an inflated real estate appraisal for 6 South Clark Street, Ferguson, Missouri.  This was a crime under federal law.  Lacey violated USPAP by failing to perform an assignment ethically and competently, and by engaging in criminal conduct.  Because he failed to comply with USPAP, he violated § 339.535.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.532.2(7) and (10).
Subdivision (14)


The MREAC argues that Lacey is subject to discipline for violation of professional trust or confidence.  Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
 

Lacey violated the professional trust and confidence he owed to the MREAC, the public, and to clients when he intentionally concealed needed information by creating an inflated real estate appraisal.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.532.2(14).

Summary


We find that Lacey is subject to discipline under § 339.532.2(4), (5), (7), (10), and (14).  We cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on November 29, 2006.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

	�The Board requests a judgment on the pleadings based on Lacey’s admissions in his answer.


	�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.


	�Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2005.  


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


	�Section 339.511.2.


	�State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1961).  


	�State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2003).


	�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).





	�Johnson v. Missouri Bd. of Nursing Adm’rs, 130 S.W.3d 619, 642 (Mo. App., W.D. 2004).  


	�Section 1.020(8).


	�Grace v. Missouri Gaming Comm’n, 51 S.W.3d 891, 900 (Mo. App., W.D. 2001).


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 794 (11th ed. 2003).  


	�See Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647, 649 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004) (citing James v. Paul, 495 S.W.3d 678, 682-83 (Mo. banc 2001)).  


	�Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).  


	�Cooper v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 774 S.W.2d 501, 504 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).
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